IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAN 22 1992

CALVIN EARL BURKS,

CASE NO.:

79,122<sub>By</sub>

Cklef Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

vs.

LOWER COURT

CASE NO.: 90-2340

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

The Petitioner, by and through his undersigned attorney, hereby files this Brief on the Merits on his behalf in the above cause, pursuant to Order of the Court dated December 26, 1991.

> JEFFREY L. DEES Attorney at Law

Attorney 120 Ææt/Granada Blvd.

Ormand Beach, Florida 32176

(964) 676-9900

Florida Bar No. 167906

##

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an adjudication of guilt of the felony offense of DUI Resulting in Death in violation of Florida Statute 316.193(3) rendered by the Honorable Robert R. Perry, Circuit Court, in and for Putnam County, Seventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, on November 13, 1990. References to the Record on Appeal will be by the letter "R" followed by a page reference.

An information charging the Appellant with the offense of Driving Under the Influence Resulting in Death, in violation of Florida Statute 316.193(3), was filed **by** the State Attorney's office in Putnam County, Florida, on May 2, 1990. (R.3)

The case was tried by a jury in Palatka, Florida, on September 24 and 25, 1990, and the Appellant was found guilty as charged by the jury. (R.19)

On November 13, 1990, Judge Perry Sentenced the Appellant to a term of 15 years in the Department of Corrections, provided that after the Appellant has served 5 years, he is placed on probation for a period of 10 years under the supervision of the Department of Corrections. (R.28)

On November 7, 1991, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed Appellant's conviction, but certified the following question:

May the State offer in evidence an admission against interest to establish one of the elements of the charged offense in the absence of an independently established corpus delicti? (See Appendix for full text of decision below.)

On November 20, Appellant filed a Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Rehearing En Banc (on the grounds that the decision

conflicted with <u>State vs. Hepburn</u>, 460 So.2d 422 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), and Motion for Certification (of conflict with <u>Farley vs.</u> City of Tallahassee, 243 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971)).

Appellant's Motions were each denied on December 11, 1991, and Appellant served Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on December 17, 1991.

This Brief on the Merits is filed pursuant to this Court's Order of December 26, 1991.

#### 11. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The testimony at trial showed that on the morning of February 15, 1990, Florida Highway Patrol Trooper C. W. Heaton was dispatched to the scene of a traffic accident in Putnam (R.105) The Trooper was dispatched to the intersection of Comfort Road and U.S. 17 (State Road 15) and arrived at 4:55 Upon arrival, the Trooper observed a tractor-trailer across the northbound lanes of U.S. 17 facing from east to west, blocking the northbound lanes. The Trooper also observed a motorcycle lying in the roadway, At the time of the Trooper's arrival, there were volunteer firemen and some Sheriff's office personnel present. The Trooper also testified that Appellant, CALVIN BURKS, was present. (R.106) Trooper Heaton initiated a traffic accident investigation and also determined that there was a deceased person present at the scene, Charles Courtemarche. (R.107)

After completing the traffic accident investigation, the Trooper advised the Appellant of his Miranda rights by reading from a standard law enforcement card. (R.108-109) Following the advice of rights, the Appellant made certain incriminating statements that he had been driving the tractor-trailer and had been drinking earlier. (R.109) Trooper Heaton also observed that the Appellant had the odor of an alcoholic beverage on his breath and that his eyes were bloodshot and watery.

The Florida Highway Patrol Traffic Homicide Investigator W. D. Kilpatrick was summoned by Trooper Heaton and arrived

subsequently. Upon Trooper Kilpatrick's arrival, it was decided to take the Appellant to the Putnam County Hospital for the purposes of drawing a blood sample to determine his blood alcohol level.

This was accomplished, and at the trial the lab chemist testified that the blood alcohol level contained within the blood sample drawn at the hospital was 0.14%.

Trooper Kilpatrick testified that upon his arrival he observed the tractor-trailer sitting across the northbound lanes of State Road 15, that there was a motorcycle lying on its left side in the left lane of the northbound lanes of State Road 15, and a body of a white male, later identified as Charles Courtemarche, lying also in the other southbound lane. (R.125) He also testified that he observed the Appellant at the scene when he arrived. The Trooper testified that the condition of the road was dry and the weather was clear that morning. There were no skidmarks left on the highway, but there was a small mark on the roadway which the Trooper believed to be from the engine casing of the left side of the motorcycle. R.125,128-129)

In addition to the testimony of the lab technician who drew the blood at the Putnam County Hospital, there was also a stipulaton by the parties that the medical examiner's findings were that the identity of the body on the scene was that as alleged in the Information, namely, Charles Courternarche, and that he was deceased.

At that time the State rested its case and the Appellant moved for Judgment of Acquittal on the grounds that there was no evidence from which the jury could determine that the Appellant was the operator of the vehicle and that there was an absence of any evidence of causation. (R.150-151) Upon argument of the Motion, the Court agreed that there was no causation shown that the motorcycle and the truck had collided and that this had been the cause of the death of the deceased. (R.151-152)

Faced with the clear prospect that the Court was going to direct a Judgment of Acquittal, the State moved to reopen its case. The defense objected to this, but the Court permitted the State to reopen its case so that it could attempt to prove causation. (R.153-154)

Upon reopening its case, the State recalled Trooper Kilpatrick who testified that upon arriving at the scene the deceased had visible head and facial wounds and that he determined that the motorcyclist struck the left front hub of the tractor. (R.155-156) He bolstered his conclusions by a trail of lubricant leading from what appeared to be a point of impact to where the truck had rolled after the collision. The Trooper also testified on re-direct examination that the motorcycle was owned by the deceased, Charles Courtemarche. At that point, the State rested its case.

The Appellant renewed his Motion for Judgment of Acquittal on the previous grounds, including the lack of evidence that the

Appellant was driving any vehicle at the scene or any evidence that the deceased was driving any vehicle at the scene. In addition, the Appellant objected to the Statement of the Defendant having been admitted against him on the grounds that the corpus delicti of the crime had not been established nor had causation been established. (R.159) The Appellant had objected to the introduction of the statement of the Appellant at a side bar conference at the time those statements were first introduced by the State during the testimony of Trooper Heaton. At that time, the Court denied the Motion (made on the grounds that there was no corpus delicti) and the Court re-affirmed that this, in fact, had occurred during the argument on the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. The Court also overruled the objection on the grounds of corpus delicti again during the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. (R.152-163)

Upon denial of the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal, no further evidence was presented by the State, and the defense rested without presenting any evidence.

#### 111. SUMMARY

The trial court erred in admitting incriminating statements made by the Appellant to the investigating officers, because the State failed to prove the corpus delicti of the crime charged. There is no evidence, direct or circumstantial, from which it could be inferred that the Appellant had been driving a vehicle or that an intoxicated driver had been at the wheel of any vehicle involved in the accident. Accordingly, the Appellant's conviction should be reversed and the Appellant discharged.

The trial court improperly failed to rule on the Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal when the State rested, when the evidence was clear that the State had failed to present any evidence of causation, which is an essential element of the crime charged. The trial court denied the Appellant due process of law and violated the requirements of Rule 3.380, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, by deferring ruling upon the Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal after same had been argued before the Court and the Court had concluded that the State had failed to prove causation, and by then allowing the State to reopen its case to introduce additional evidence.

Finally, the trial court erred in failing to suppress statements made by the Appellant on the grounds that said statements are privileged pursuant to Florida Statute 316.066, and because the State failed to show that the Appellant voluntarily and intelligently waived his rights to self-incrimination. The law enforcement officers, upon completing the

traffic accident investigation, commenced a traffic homicide investigation, but failed to advise the Appellant that they were investigating a possible homicide, that any report prepared by them would not be made a part of the traffic accident report to be filed in Tallahassee or that such report was in any way different from any other officers report prepared during the accident invesigation. Further, law enforcement officers did not advise the Appellant, and should be required to so advise persons in such situations, that the prior statements made by the Appellant during the accident investigation could not be used against him during the criminal investigation.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: THE STATE NEVER ESTABLISHED THE CORPUS DELICTI OF THE CRIME CHARGED SO AS TO JUSTIFY THE ADMISSION OF THE APPELLANT'S INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS.

It has long been established that the State has the burden of proving by substantial evidence that a crime was committed before a defendant's confession is admitted into evidence. Holland vs. State, 39 Fla. 178, 22 So. 298 (1897); Frazier vs. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958); State vs. Allen, 335 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1976). In the Allen case, the Supreme Court stated the Rule as follows:

The Rule of Law announced in <u>Sciortino</u> is to the effect that before confession is admitted the State has the burden of proving by substantial evidence that a crime was committed, and that such proof may be in the form of Circumstantial evidence.

\* \* \*

A person's confession to a crime is not sufficient evidence of a crimnal act where no independent direct or circumstantial evidence exists to substantiate the occurrence of a crime. The judicial quest for truth requires that no person be convicted out of derangement, mistake or official fabrication. 335 So.2d at 824-825.

In the case of <u>State vs. Hepburn</u>, 460 So.2d 422 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the lower court indicated in the context of a charge of driving under the influence of alcohol, that a criminal element of the corpus delicti is proof that the defendant was in fact driving the automobile at the time of the offense:

A, if not the, criminal element of the corpus delicti of the offense of driving while intoxicated is evidence that the defendant was driving at the time she allegedly committed the offense. 460 So.2d at 426.

In the Hepburn case, the facts indicated that a Highway Patrol Trooper was called to the scene of an accident in which an automobile had struck and injured certain pedestrians and had left the scene of the accident. There were no eyewitnesses to accident, but the Trooper determined that a certain automobile registered in the name of a person other than the defendant (apparently a relative of the defendant's) had struck the pedestrians. Subsequently, the defendant made incriminating statements to the Trooper regarding her involvement in the accident, but the Court concluded that the State was unable to prove the corpus delicti of the offense, namely that the defendant had been driving the automobile at the time of the accident, without the use of the defendant's admissions. Accordingly, the use of the defendant's admissions were properly suppressed by the Court and affirmed on appeal in reference to the charge of driving under the influence of alcohol.

In <u>Farley vs. City of Tallahassee</u>, 243 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), the defendant was charged with driving under the influence of alcohol. The incident involved a vehicle owned and occupied by the defendant which ran off the side of the road and came to rest in a culvert. The vehicle was also occupied by the Petitioner's wife and daughter and no other vehicles were involved in the incident. When the police officers arrived at the scene, the defendant was not present but arrived some 30 minutes later. During this interim, the defendant's wife was placed in custody for apparently causing some disturbance

connected with the accident. Upon arrival at the scene, the investigating officer questioned the defendant and ascertained from him that he was the driver of the car when it went into the ditch. The defendant was thereafter ultimately arrested and charged with driving while intoxicated. The Court observed, aside from the defendant's admission at the scene that he was the driver, there was no other evidence on that critical element of the offense charged. Accordingly, the Court found there was no proof that the offense charged was ever committed by anyone without the evidence of the defendant's admissions, nor was there evidence of circumstances from which it would be inferred that a drunken driver was at the wheel of the car when it went into the ditch. Relying upon the well-settled rule that it is incumbent upon the State to prove the corpus delicti in every case and to rely on proof other than a confession or admission of the defendant, the Court reversed the conviction of the defendant and discharged him. In reaching its decision, the Court quoted with approval the following language from State vs. Joiner, 17 Fla. Supp. 84, as follows:

There is no evidence other than the defendant's admission to the drunkometer technician, to show that the defendant, conceding her intoxicated state, was driving or had physical control of the Studebaker...Regardless of the number of intoxicated persons at the scene of an accident, even if they are car owners, there is no violation of the ordinance unless and until it be shown that an intoxicated person was driving or in physical control of a vehicle. In other words, without the admission by defendant that she was driving, there if no proof of the corpus delicti. 243 So.2d at 162.

In Anderson vs. State 467 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), a case involving a charge of manslaughter by operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, the Court found that the corpus delicti to sustain the admission of the defendant's statements was established by the following evidence: The State's evidence established that a truck traveling at a high rate of speed ran a stop sign at an intersection; that the truck struck a car traveling east in the intersection, causing the car to strike another car and killing the driver of the first car; that the truck took no evasive action prior to impact; that all three persons in the truck were thrown out as a result of the impact; that the defendant was found unconscious alongside the driver's side of the truck, and the other two occupants were found dead in the front of the truck; that beer cans were strewn on the ground around the truck, and several more beer cans and a Vodka bottle were found lying inside the truck; that the defendant was taken to the hospital where a blood sample was taken from him two hours after the accident indicating a blood alcohol level of .22. Based upon this evidence, the Court ruled that the death of the driver of the car was due to the criminal agency of someone who was driving the truck in an intoxicated manner. Since the defendant was found lying near the driver's side of the truck, the Court reasoned that it was most likely that he had been driving the truck and not his two dead companions. The Court then ruled that the trial court had committed no error

admitting the defendant's statement in evidence on the manslaughter counts and in denying the defense motions for judgment of acquittal.

In County of Dade vs. Pedigo, 181 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966), when the arresting officer arrived at the scene of the accident, he found the defendant's car partly backed out onto a paved area in front of a bar with extensive damage to the left rear. The other automobile involved in the collision was in the highway in a position which would indicate it had been proceeding at right angles to the defendant's automobile and the second vehicle had extensive damage to its right side. At the time the officer arrived, he found the defendant standing at the left front fender of his vehicle, leaning against the car. He also stated that the defendant's walk was unsteady and the defendant had a strong alcoholic smell. Based upon this evidence, the Court found that the corpus delicti had been sufficiently established that a violation of law had occurred, to support the admission by the defendant that he was the operator of the vehicle. The Court concluded that the observations of the investigating officer when he first arrived on the scene did not indicate that anyone else was connected with the operation of the car.

In the case at hand, the State did not present the testimony of the initial officers to arrive upon the scene. Trooper Heaton indicated that he was the first Highway Patrolman to arrive, but at that time there were volunteer firemen and some Sheriff's

office personnel present. As to the condition of the scene, the only evidence the State introduced was that the Trooper found a tractor-trailer across the northbound lanes of U.S. 17 facing from east to west, blocking the northbound lanes. Also there was a motorcycle lying in the roadway and apparently the body of Charles Courtemarche also lying in another portion of roadway. As to the presence of the Appellant, the only testimony introduced by the State was that the Appellant, CALVIN BURKS, was simply there. (R.106) There is no testimony whatsoever linking the Appellant with any of the vehicles at the scene. There is no testimony indicating that he was seen driving any of the vehicles involved, lying near any of the vehicles involved, leaning against any of the vehicles or otherwise associated with any of the vehicles. There were no eyewitnesses to the accident who testified at the trial to indicate that the Appellant was in any way associated with either of the vehicles at the scene. Unlike the Allen case, there was no evidence indicating the Appellant had been observed operating either of the vehicles at any time prior to the accident. Further, without the testimony of the first officers to arrive upon the scene, we do not know how long a period of time elapsed from the time of the alleged collision until Trooper Heaton arrived. We do not know how many people were first observed at the scene when the original officers arrived, nor is there any circumstantial evidence from which it could be concluded either that the Appellant was operating any of

the vehicles involved or that an intoxicated person was operating any of the vehicles found at the scene of the alleged accident.

As in the <u>Hepburn</u> case, there is no evidence in the case at hand that the Appellant was driving at the time he allegedly committed the offenses charged other than his own statements to Trooper Heaton. Unlike the <u>Pedigo</u>, case, there is no evidence that when the initial law enforcement officers arrived, that the Appellant and the deceased were the only persons on the scene and that the Appellant was even found leaning against any of the vehicles in question. Further, the Troopers testified that there were no skidmarks nor any evidence of any unlawful speed or reckless operation of any motor vehicle which they found at the scene of the alleged collision.

The Appellant objected to the introduction of his statement at the time Trooper Heaton began to testify concerning the statements in the trial. The objection was made at a side bar conference during the testimony of Trooper Heaton, and Judge Perry overruled the objection at that time. In the Record, Judge Perry confirmed there was a side bar conference at the time of Trooper Heaton's testimony on the corpus delicti objection and that he overruled the objection and he also overruled the same objection again on the Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. (R.162-163) In the transcript of the testimony of Trooper Heaton, there is in fact a side bar discussion reported by the court reporter which is apparently when the Appellant's objection was made, as referred to by Judge Perry. (R.110)

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