047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

LERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CALVIN EARL BURKS,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,122

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #438847
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: This Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the instant case. Further, the instant issue is not preserved for review. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal based on the claim that the state failed to establish the corpus delicti of the crime charged justifying admission of his confession. Finally, even if the confession was improperly admitted, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>POINT TWO</u>: This Court does not have jurisdiction of this case. Further, this issue is procedurally barred. On the merits, the district court correctly distinguished between a confession and an admission against interest and properly applied that distinction to the instant case. Appellant's statements were admissible as admissions against interest. Finally, any error in admission of the statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>POINT THREE</u>: This Court does not have jurisdiction of the instant case. Further, this issue is not preserved for appellate consideration. The trial court did not err in denying the acquittal motion because the evidence admitted prior to that motion established a prima facie case of causation. Neither did the court err in permitting the state to reopen its **case** after it rested and appellant made his motion for judgment of acquittal. Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

POINT FOUR: This Court lacks jurisdiction to consider this case. Further, this issue is procedurally barred. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress his confession which was contained in his motion in limine. The confession is not privileged under the terms of the state's mandatory accident reporting statute. Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR INDENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BASED ON THE CLAIM THAT THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE CORPUS DELICTI OF THE CRIME: CHARGED JUSTIFYING ADMISSION OF APPELLANT'S CONFESSION.

Appellant, Calvin Earl Burks [hereinafter "Burks"], claims that the trial judge should have granted his motion for judgment of acquittal because the state failed to establish the corpus delicti of the crime of DUI manslaughter independently of his confession. He contends that proof of the corpus delicti requires proof of all elements of the crime. Without the confession, Burks argues, the evidence failed to establish one such element, i.e., that he was the driver of the tractor trailer, and therefore, his confession should not have been admitted into evidence against him. Appellee, the State of Florida [hereinafter "the state"], contends that this Honorable Court does not have jurisdiction of this case.

#### Lack of Jurisdiction:

The question posed by the district court in its instant opinion was **not** certified to be **a question of great** public importance as required by the appellate rule. Fla. R. App. P. **9.030(2)(v).** See Burks v. State, **16** F.L.W. 2814, 2815 (Fla. 5th DCA Nov. 7, 1991). Further, the district court denied Burks' motion

In arguing this point, Appellant's subject statements will be treated, and referred to, as a "confession." However, Appellee fully agrees with the district court's classification of the statements as an "admission against interest." See Point 11, infra, at 19-24.

for certification of direct conflict with Farley v. City of Tallahassee, 243 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). (Appendix B). See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(2)(vi). Finally, the instant decision does not directly and expressly conflict with Farley or State v. Allen, 335 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1976). See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(2)(iv). Accordingly, this Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction of this cause.

## Farley v. City of Tallahassee:

In Farley, the defendant was convicted of "driving while under the influence of alcohol." 243 So.2d at 161. Other than Farley's "admission at the scene that he was the driver, there was no other evidence on that critical element of the offense charged." Id. at 162. In the instant case, there was other evidence that Burks was the driver of the semi. The following exchange occurred during Burks' cross examination of Officer Heaton:

Defense Counsel: [D] id you have another conversation with Mr. Burks?

Officer Heaton: The fact of him wanting to leave....?

\*

Defense Counsel: Concerning the question of whether or not  $\underline{he}$  could drive  $\underline{his}$  vehicle away and continue on  $\underline{his}$  run.

Officer Heaton: I believe him and the supervisor asked me that.

. . \*

Officer Heaton: . . I advised Mr. Burks' supervisor that he wasn't under arrest at that time.

Defense Counsel: Did you say something to the effect that it was up to him if he wanted to drive?

Officer Heaton: I said it to his supervisor.

. . .

Officer Heaton: I told the supervisor I didn't advise him that it was a good idea, that he been (sic) drinking.

(emphasis added) (R 121-122). In addition, there is circumstantial evidence indicating that Burks was the truck's driver. See argument, infra, at 9, 16-17.

A further distinction is that Farley was taken from the scene to the police station where he was charged with the crime. 243 So.2d at 162. However, in the instant case, Burks was free to go at all times. (R 81, 121-122). He was not arrested until some five weeks later, and he was not charged with the crime until almost three months after he made his confession.<sup>2</sup> (R 1, 3).

The state contends that the only confessions which are not admissible are those made after the person is under arrest, charged with a crime, or, at most, otherwise restrained. *Parrish* v. *State*, 90 Fla. 25, 105 So. 130, 133 (1925). Since Burks' confession was made before any of those things occurred, it was

The instant record shows that Burks was free to leave at any time after he gave the accident report. Officer Heaton testified that he told Burks when he had terminated the accident report, and he gave Burks' Miranda rights and told him he was commencing a criminal investigation. (R 107-108, 118). Officer Kilpatrick testified that Burks was "free to go anywhere he wanted to go." (R 81). Officer Heaton testified at trial on cross examination that Burks was not under arrest and was free to leave. (R 121-122). Burks was not arrested until March 23, 1990, and he was not charged with the instant crime until May 2, 1990. (R 1, 3).

properly admitted. Under these circumstances, its admission does not conflict with the *Farley* decision.

#### State v. Allen:

In *State v. Allen*, this Court said proof beyond a reasonable doubt is not the standard for determining whether the corpus delicti has been sufficiently demonstrated to permit admission of a confession. 335 So.2d at 825-826. This Court found purely circumstantial evidence adequate to indicate that the deceased person was not the driver, and therefore, the only other person found at the scene, Allen, must have been. 335 So.2d at 825.

Applying the *State v. Allen* standard to the instant case, the circumstantial evidence shows that the victim, Mr. Courtemarche, was not the driver of the semi, and therefore, the only other person found at the scene, Burks, must have been. That evidence includes:

When Officer Heaton arrived on the scene, the only persons there were "[s]ome volunteer fireman and some Sheriff's Office personnel" and Burks. (R 106). The deceased body of Mr. Courtemarche was lying near his motorcycle in the roadway. (R 106, 107). There was a "tractor trailer across the northbound lanes," blocking them. (R 106). The officer noticed that Burks had "[a] strong alcohol c beverage smell on his breath, [and his] eyes were bloodshot an! watery." (R 106). Burks' speech was slurred, and he was upset and crying. (R 115-116).

There is no conflict with *State v. Allen. See also*, argument, *infra*, at 13-16.

## Procedural Bar:

Assuming arguendo that the question has been properly certified and/or the instant decision conflicts with Farley and/or State v. Allen, the instant claim should not be considered because it is not preserved for appellate review. Burks did not interpose an objection to admission of the evidence until after the state's witness, Officer Heaton, testified to the incriminating statements Burks made at the scene. The following exchange occurred:

Prosecutor: Did he [Burks] agree to speak with you?

Officer Heaton: Yes, sir.

Prosecutor: And what did he **tell** you about the accident?

Officer Heaton: At that point in time he advised he had rolled through a stop sign and in order to cross the road....

Prosecutor: Did he admit to you that he was the driver of that semi?

Officer Heaton: Yes, sir, he did.

Prosecutor: What did he tell you at that time about drinking alcoholic beverages that night?

Officer Heaton: He had had some personal trouble and that he had been drinking real heavily that evening before.

[Defense Counsel]: Judge, may we approach the bench?

The Court: Yes, Sir.

(Side-bar discussion had out of the hearing of the jury and the reporter.)

(R 109-110).

Apparently Burks raised the corpus delicti issue at the side-bar discussion. (R 162-163). However, any objection he raised was made too late to preserve for appellate review the issue of the admissibility of his confession. This issue not having been preserved by contemporaneous objection, and Burks not having alleged or demonstrated fundamental error in this regard, it is procedurally barred. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

## Merits:

Assuming arguendo that the issue raised on appeal is properly before this Honorable Court, Burks is not entitled to relief. At trial, his corpus delicti argument was made as the basis for a motion for judgment of acquittal. (R 162-163). The law is well settled that a court should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless no view of the evidence favorable to the state will support the guilty verdict. Brewer v. State, 413 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Herman v. State, 472 So.2d 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 482 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1986). For purposes of appellate review, the movant admits all facts in evidence, and every conclusion which may be inferred therefrom, which are favorable to the state. Herman v. State, 472 So.2d at 771. Where the state has brought forth competent evidence to support every element of the crime, a judgment of acquittal is not proper. Anderson v. State, 504 So.2d 1270, 1271 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Burks asserts that an essential part of the corpus delicti of his crime is that he was driving the vehicle at the time of the accident. He claims that "[t]here is no testimony whatsoever linking the Appellant with any of the vehicles at the scene." (Appellant's brief at 14). He adds "[t]here was no testimony or evidence other than the admission of the Appellant himself, as to who was driving the vehicles at the time of the alleged accident." (Appellant's brief at 16). The state disagrees.

In the instant case, the evidence shows:

When the police arrived at the scene of the accident, they saw "a tractor trailer across the northbound lanes of US 17 facing from east to west." (R 106, 125). That vehicle was blocking the northbound lanes and the median of the four lane highway. (R 106, 155). The weather was "very clear that morning," the road was dry and there were no defects in the road. (R 113, 125, 129). Officer Kilpatrick, the homicide investigator, testified that there was nothing obstructing Burks' view when he pulled onto the road. (R 129). There were no skid marks left by the vehicles. (R 157).

The other vehicle involved was a motorcycle, owned by Charles Courtemarche, which "lay on its left side in the left lane of the northbound two lanes ..." (R 125, 106, 158). The body of Mr. Courtemarche was laying in the other lane. (R 107, 125, 127, 156). There were head and facial wounds on the body. (R 155). Mr. Courtemarche was dead. (R 107).

The police determined that at the time of the accident, "[t]he motorcycle had the right of way." (R 128). There were

gouge marks in the pavement made by the "engine casing on the left side of the motorcycle." (R 128-129). It was determined that the motorcycle impacted with the tractor trailer "in the left front hub of the tractor." (R 155). "The hub that covers the wheel bearings of the front axel (sic) was shattered and all the lubricant had leak (sic) out. And there was a trial (sic) of lubricant leading back to the point of impact . ..." (R 156).

Burks was present at the scene, and Officer Heaton immediately noticed that he had bloodshot eyes and was "extremely upset." (R 115, 122). He walked about the scene "slowly, unsurely," "he was disoriented and "his speech was slurred." (R 110-111). Based on his training, experience and observations of Burks, Officer Heaton concluded that he was under the influence of alcohol and his normal faculties were impaired. (R 113, 117). The blood test taken shortly after the accident showed that Burks' blood contained .14 per cent alcohol. (R 144).

In ruling on the acquittal motion, the trial court concluded that the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom show that "Burks was driving the tractor trailer and that they collided and that that collision caused the death of Courtemarche." (R 161). The motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (R 162). The state asserts that the trial court did not err in so ruling.

In *State* v. *Allen*, 335 So.2d 823, 824 (Fla. 1976), the sole point of law concerned "the state's burden of proving the "corpus delicti" before a defendant's confession may be admitted into

The officer testified that Burks' reaction time was impaired. (R 119). "He was slow reacting to anything I asked him or anything he was doing at the scene," (R 119-120).

evidence." (footnote omitted). The defendant was only guilty of the crime charged if the person who was killed in an accident involving Allen's car was not the driver of that vehicle. 335 \$0.2d at 825. Allen claimed that the state had to prove that he was the driver of the vehicle before his confession to that effect could be admitted. Id. This Court rejected that contention, Stating that "{w}e also reject . . . that identification of the defendant as the guilty party is a necessary predicate for the admission of a confession." (emphasis added) Id.

Thereafter, the identification issue was addressed in Anderson v. State, 467 So. 2d 781, 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). In Anderson, the defendant was charged with "manslaughter" operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated." A truck ran a stop sign and struck a car, resulting in the death of the driver of the car. 467 \$0.2d at 783. It was shown that "the truck took no evasive action prior to impact." Id. Anderson and his two companions were thrown out of the truck. Id. Anderson was found lying near the driver's side of the truck and his companions were lying near the front of the truck. Id.cans were on the ground near the truck and others were found inside the truck. Id. A test of Anderson's blood showed that he had a blood alcohol level in excess of the legal limit. Id.

The *Anderson* court said that the manner in which the truck was driven prior to the impact and the presence of alcoholic beverage cans showed that the victim "was killed due to the criminal agency of another by someone who was driving the "death

truck" in an intoxicated state." *Id*. The court pointed out that under **State** v. **Allen**, it was not necessary to show that Anderson "was the guilty party--i.e., the driver of the "death truck"--in order to lay a predicate for the admission of [his statement that he was the driver]." *Id*. at **783-784**.

In the instant case, the weather and road conditions were ideal, and the driver of the tractor trailer had an unobstructed view of the oncoming motorcycle, yet he ran a stop sign. driver did not apply his brakes hard enough to leave skid marks, if at all, and he operated his truck in such a manner as to completely block the two northbound lanes and the median of the The state asserts that the jury could reasonably conclude from this evidence that no reasonable driver would have driven the truck in this manner unless his normal faculties were impaired. There was overwhelming evidence indicating that a person at the scene had been drinking alcoholic beverages and was intoxicated to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired. The state contends that this evidence laid the proper predicate for admission of Burks' confession. See Anderson, 467 So. 2d at 783-784.

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